

Prevalence of Long-acting Reversible Contraceptive Methods and Factors Affecting Its Use among Married Women in Akasta Town, North-East Ethiopia

Kibir Temesgen¹⁺, Amare Workie^{*2}, Yared Mulu^{*3}

Abstract

Background: Long acting contraception is a human right and is essential to women's empowerment. It is essential to reduce poverty, promote economic growth, raise female productivity, lower fertility and improve child survival and maternal health. Even though some long acting reversible contraceptive methods are the world's most prevalent form of reversible contraception, the utilization is very low in sub-Saharan Africa.

Objectives: To assess the prevalence and factors affecting use of long acting contraceptive methods in Akasta Town, North East Ethiopia.

Methods: A community based cross-sectional study was conducted on 422 women of reproductive age to find out the prevalence and factors affecting use of long acting contraceptive methods in Akasta Town, North East Ethiopia from March to May 2016.. The actual respondents were selected by systematic sampling method at household level. Pretested and structured questionnaires were used to collect data. Data entry, editing and clearance was done using Epi info version 3.5.1 database. Finally, analysis was done using SPSS version 20.0.

Result: The prevalence of use of long acting contraceptives in the study area was found to be 33.6% and implants were the most commonly used methods. One hundred thirty one (46.8%) of respondents did not use these methods because of inadequate information provided for them. Two hundred eighty one (66.6%) of respondents said that they knew at least one type of long acting methods and Implants were widely known which accounts 139 (49.5%) of respondents. Age, husband's educational status, knowledge of long acting reversible contraceptives and attitude towards these methods were significantly associated with use of these contraceptives.

Comment [81]: their

Comment [82]: Change it to "Study aim"

Comment [83]: This is an abstract. Do not keep repeating statements. Cancel the part in green highlight and rephrase the sentence as follows:

A community based cross-sectional study was conducted on 422 women of reproductive age between march and May 2016 to achieve study aim.

Comment [84]: This is an abstract. Remove this statement completely from abstract.

Comment [85]: Why capitalized?

Conclusion: The study showed that the prevalence of long acting reversible contraceptives in the study area was low. Only 142 (33.6%) of respondents ever used any type of these methods in their life time and implants were the most commonly used method. Age, husband's educational status, knowledge of long acting reversible contraceptives and attitude towards these methods were significantly associated with use of long acting reversible contraceptives.

Key words: Long acting contraceptives, Akasta Town, Knowledge, Attitude, practice

BACKGROUND

According to World Health Organization report an estimated 358,000 maternal deaths occurred worldwide in 2008, developing countries account for 99% (355,000) of the deaths. Sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia accounted for 87% (313,000) of global maternal deaths. Ethiopia is one of the sub-Saharan African countries with highest maternal mortality rate which is 676 maternal deaths per 100,000 live births. The vast majority of maternal and new born deaths can be prevented with proven interventions to ensure that every pregnancy is wanted by using the most effective long acting reversible contraceptive methods and by making every birth safe (7,8,9).

Long acting reversible contraceptives are family planning methods that prevent unwanted pregnancy for at least three years and when removed return of fertility is prompt. It includes the intrauterine contraceptive devices and the sub dermal implants. Long acting reversible contraception methods are convenient for users and effectively prevent pregnancy and also cost effective for programs overtime (1, 2).

Family planning has the power to save lives, yet today, more than 200 million women in the developing world don't want to be pregnant but aren't using modern contraception especially long acting family planning methods such as implants, despite of meet their needs, can dramatically improve the health and well-being of women, families, and communities. Worldwide the contraceptive prevalence rate has been rising in a fast momentum, with the developing countries at the spotlight. Women's education opportunity and awareness creation programs in different Medias play an important role. Likewise, the utilization of long acting reversible contraceptive is increasing in some parts of the world. Even though some long acting reversible contraceptive methods are the world's most prevalent form of reversible

Comment [86]: Conclusions

Comment [87]: Remove the number; only keep the proportion. Say: Only 33.6%

Comment [88]: This is a copy and paste of the results. Rephrase very shortly and abbreviated. Add a sentence to indicate your recommendation, as you have concluded from the study.

Comment [89]: Why all capitalized?

Comment [810]: Add next to it (WHO)

Comment [811]: Insert the reference here

Comment [812]: Reference

Comment [813]: The reference

Comment [814]: Make it one word: newborn

Comment [815]: Place each reference right away next to where it belongs.

Place the period before at the end of the sentence before the reference not after it as follows:

..... and by making every birth safe. (7,8,9)
Apply this all over the txt.

Comment [816]: What is this apase?

Comment [817]: Place the references where each belongs. Do not add them up at the end of the paragraph as you keep doing.

Comment [818]: Join up to the previous sentence; backspace.

Unify your spacing and starting anew paragraph method. This is a writing skill you should consult with a research writing expert.

Comment [819]: In scientific research we do not write "don't"; use do not.

Comment [820]: Change to become scientific writing not a newspaper column.

Comment [821]: Comma

Comment [822]: Wrong grammar

Comment [823]: The whole sentence is very long. Separate it into two sentences. Where are the references?

Comment [824]: Use although instead of even though.

contraception, most people in sub-Saharan Africa have limited knowledge, poor attitude (perception of poor efficacy and perception of high side effects) and low practice of it (2). As a part of sub-Saharan Africa, Ethiopia and its different regional states account low prevalence. Despite their great advantage and effectiveness, the acceptability of long acting reversible contraceptive methods is very low in some countries of the world including in more advanced countries. (5, 6)

Comment [825]: The period position

Comment [826]: The dots.

In Ethiopia knowledge of contraception is nearly universal. Currently, 28.6% married women are using modern contraception methods. In 2011, Ethiopian demographic health survey (DHS), the utilization of intrauterine device and implant was low, 2.1% and 3.4% respectively.

Comment [827]: Comma

In the 2014 mini Ethiopian DHS report, the utilization of intrauterine device and implant is still low, 1% and 4.9% respectively. In Amhara region the utilization of long acting reversible contraceptive is 0.2% for intrauterine device and 7.7% for Implanon. When the two reports are compared, there is improvement in implants use but even decrease in intrauterine device use. This shows need of further study to asses factors that hinders use of these long acting contraceptive methods [7]. The aim of this study was to investigate the prevalence and factors affecting use of long acting contraceptive methods.

Comment [828]: Rephrase in good English: IN 2011, an Ethiopian demographic health survey (EDHS) showed that the utilization of

Comment [829]: implants

Comment [830]: ... was a low as 2.1% and 3.4%, respectively.

The whole paper should be referred to an English language writing center for editing.

Comment [831]: Where is the reference?

Comment [832]: Period. And the reference

Comment [833]: Comma

Comment [834]: What is this?

Comment [835]: Language

Comment [836]: Grammar

Methods and Materials

Study design and period

A community based cross-sectional study was conducted on 422 women of reproductive age to find out the prevalence and factors affecting use of long acting contraceptive methods in Akasta Town, North East Ethiopia, March to May 2016.

Sample size estimation

The sample size was computed by using single population proportion formula for finite population with 95% confidence level, prevalence of modern contraceptive use as 50% and standard deviation of 2%.

$$n = \frac{(Z_{\alpha/2})^2 \times P(1-P)}{d^2} \quad n = \frac{(1.96)^2 \times 0.5(1 - 0.5)}{0.05^2} = 384$$

Where

Comment [837]: $(Z_{\alpha/2})^2$

Use symbol "α" not using the letter "a"
Make all as subscript.

Comment [838]: Do not use "X" as a multiplication sign statistical and article writing. We use parentheses.

Comment [839]: Why underscore?

Comment [840]: Call it "e" instead of "d"

Comment [841]: $(0.05)^2$ not 0.05

Do not use this numerator – denominator form as in lectures and math class. Write all in one line and use slash (/) as a division sign, as follows:

$$n = \frac{(Z_{\alpha/2})^2 \times P(1 - P)}{e^2}$$

Comment [842]: Comma. And do not capitalize.

n= the required sample size

$Z_{\alpha/2} = 95\%$ confidence rate = 1.96

p= the prevalence of LARCs (p=0.5)

d= margin of error= 0.05

10% none response rate = $38 + 384 = 422$

Comment [843]: What is this very long space about?

Comment [844]: Identify the acronym in full the first time it appears in text.

Comment [845]: Space?

The whole sample size equations and writing should be in a narrative form; as continuous lines, not in separate lines as a math class lecture.

Study participant selection methods

Labeling of households in the study area was done prior to the actual study to construct sampling frame and to determine the total number of households found in the study area. The actual respondents were selected by systematic sampling method at household level.

Comment [846]: Method

I prefer the following title: Sampling technique

Comment [847]: What was the systematic sampling basis? Every forth, every third, every what persons were selected? What was your "k" and what was your skipping rule? Systematic sampling has a formula and a technique to follow.



Fig 1: Amhara Regional State Map

Key  = study area

Data collection instrument and data quality assurance

Comment [848]: What is this statement about?

Pretested and structured questionnaires were used and translation of instrument was made from English language to local Amharic language and back to English language. Questionnaires for each item were adapted from previously done similar studies. Semi structured questionnaire was employed to collect data. Data collectors were trained for one day on questions included in the questionnaire, on interviewing techniques and purpose of the study. Before conducting the main study, pretest was conducted on five percent of the total sample size (in Gimba town) which were not included in the main study. Based on the result, data collectors were reoriented and the questionnaire was modified accordingly. The questionnaires were checked for completeness and consistency and entered and edited in the computer for statistical analysis.

Data entry and Analysis

Data were entered in to Epi Info version 3.5.1 database. Furthermore, the data editing and clearance was done on the same software. Finally, the data was taken to SPSS version 20.0 for the final analysis. Extreme observations and missing values were assessed and managed. The findings of the study were summarized and presented using tables, descriptive measures and statistical diagrams. Binary logistic regression was used to assess the independent effect of the predictors on the utilization of long acting reversible contraceptives. Statistical inferences were made by using chi-square test and the measure of association was the odds ratio. All covariates with nearly $p \leq 0.2$ in the bi-variable analysis or potential confounders were included in to the final model to obtain adjusted odds ratio and their 95% confidence intervals.

Ethical consideration

The study was approved by the Ethical Review Board of Wollo University, College of Medicine and Health Sciences and a cooperation letter was obtained from Akasta district administrative office. Verbal consent was obtained from each study participants.

Comment [849]: Is it a de novo questionnaire you have designed or a questionnaire you have modified and developed from another standardized questionnaire?

Comment [850]: References of these studies.

Comment [851]: What is semi-structured questionnaire?

Comment [852]: Give some information about the questionnaire construct an content: number of scales, number of items, examples of items and domains. Mention how the questionnaire was validated. Mention if you have conducted a reliability test or not to the questionnaire.

Comment [853]: Mention the relationship between this town and the study zone.

Comment [854]: What result?

Comment [855]: Explain how you handled closed ended questions and open ended questions; how they were coded.

Mention the questionnaire completeness rule for admittance to the analysis.

Comment [856]: Why capitalized?

Refer to an English language writing center to rewrite your paper.

Comment [857]: were

Comment [858]: Was this you alpha level? Explain clearly what was your alpha level and level of significance.

Comment [859]: Add (AOR) to it. You will need it as a heading in the pertinent column of the logistic regression model tablet.

You will also need to address the corrected odds ratio (COR) in the same table. So ether you mention it here and how to use and why, or indicate the two acronyms in full in the table as a footnote.

Comment [860]: What city, what country?

Result

Socio-demographic characteristics of respondents

A total of 422 currently married women participated making the response rate of 100%. From the total respondents 225(53.3%) were in the age group of 20-34. The mean age of the participants was 29.699 (± 9.1 SD) years with minimum of 16 years and maximum of 49 years. All questionnaires were completely filled and analyzable (refer table -1).

Table 1: Socio-demographic characteristics of long acting contraceptive users, Akasta town, March to May, 2016

Variables		Number	Percent (%)	Mean	Standard deviation (SD)
Age	15-19	87	20.6	29.699	9.11
	20-34	225	53.3		
	35-49	110	26.1		
	Total	422	100		
Current occupation	House wife	196	46.5		
	Merchant	85	20.1		
	Government employee	83	19.7		
	Student	58	13.7		
	Total	422	100		
Women Educational status	Unable to read & write	141	33.4		
	Primary school	113	26.8		
	Secondary and above	168	39.8		
	Total	422	100		
Husband Educational status	Unable to read & write	54	12.8		
	Primary school	172	40.8		
	Secondary and above	196	46.4		
	Total	422	100		

Comment [861]: Results

Refer to an English language writing center to rewrite your paper.

Comment [862]: We never heard of 100% response rate in survey research. You need to prove your 100% claim. How about incomplete questionnaires responses? How about refusal to participate or withdrawal?

Comment [863]: Why the distances?

Comment [864]: Do not say (refer to table; just write down the table number in parenthesis.

Comment [865]: The table design is wrong. You have only one continuous variable, which is age to use the mean and SD for, thereby we do not overwhelm the table with 2 extra columns with the mean and SD of only this continuous variable. Remove these columns from the table and note the mean and SD of somewhere else.

Below is an example of the table design.

Comment [866]: Variable

Also the table is in font number 10, while all other tables and the whole text is font 12. What kind of a scientific writing report is this?

Variables		Number	Percent
Age <i>Mean 29.7(±9.1)</i> <i>Min: 15; max: 49</i> <i>Range: 34</i>	15-19	87	20.6
	20-34	225	53.3
	35-49	110	26.1
	Total	422	100
Current occupation	House wife	196	46.5
	Merchant	85	20.1
	Government employee	83	19.7
	Student	58	13.7
	Total	422	100
Women Educational status	Unable to read & write	141	33.4
	Primary school	113	26.8
	Secondary and above	168	39.8
	Total	422	100
Husband Educational status	Unable to read & write	54	12.8
	Primary school	172	40.8
	Secondary and above	196	46.4
	Total	422	100

3.2 Reproductive characteristics of respondents

From all 422 currently married women 337(79.9%) of them give at least one birth. Eighty five (20.1%) of the participants had never given birth. Two hundred twenty seven (53.8%) of respondents had experienced unwanted pregnancy while 46.2% had never experienced it. Regarding history of abortion the majority (72.2%) of respondents said that they did not experienced abortion while the rest (26.8%) had experienced it (refer table-2).

Table 2: Reproductive characteristics of respondents, in Akasta town, March to May, 2016

Variables	Categories	Number	Percent
Age at first sex (n=422)	<18	198	46.9
	≥18	224	53.1
	Total	422	100
Give birth	Yes	337	79.9
	No	85	20.1

Comment [867]: Unify the use of "bold" font of headings in tables in your paper. Either all bolded or all un-bolded.

Comment [868]: Use ≥ instead of >=

Comment [869]: Gave

Age at first birth (n=337)	<18	85	25.2
	>=18	252	74.8
	Total	337	100
No. of children wish to have in the future (n=422)	No need	57	13.5
	1-2	109	25.8
	3-4	170	40.3
	5 or more	86	20.4
	Total	422	100
History of unwanted pregnancy (n=422)	Yes	227	53.8
	No	195	46.2
Have you experienced induced abortion (n=422)?	Yes	113	26.8
	No	309	73.2
	Total	422	100

Comment [870]: Do not justify lining in a table.

3.3 Knowledge and practice of respondents on modern contraceptive methods

From the total of 422 respondents, majority of them, 365(86.5%) knew at least one method of short acting modern contraceptives while the rest 13.5% did not know of any method. 336(79.6%) of respondents ever used one type of modern short acting contraceptives at least once in their life time.

Comment [871]: the

Comment [872]: Comma

Comment [873]: In parenthesis

Comment [874]: What are two percentages: 13.5% and 79.6% , for the same category of people?

Two hundred eighty one (66.6%) of respondents said that they knew at least one type of long acting contraceptives methods while the rest 141(33.4%) did not know any of these long acting methods. From the two types of long acting modern contraceptives, implants were widely known by 139 (49.5%) of respondents. Regarding practice of long acting modern contraceptives, only 142(33.6%) ever used any type of these methods in their life time and implants were the most commonly used method.

Table 3: Knowledge of modern contraceptives among married women aged 15–49, in Akasta town, March to May, 2016

Variables	Responses	Number	Percent
-----------	-----------	--------	---------

Comment [875]: Unify your bolding or not noodling titles and headings in tables all the text.

Comment [876]: Variable

Comment [877]: Unify your bolding or not noodling titles and headings in tables all the text.

Know at least one modern contraceptives (n=422)	Yes	365	86.5
	No	57	13.5
Type/s of modern contraceptives known by respondents (n=365)	Pills	139	38.1
	Injectables	116	31.8
	More than one type	110	30.1
Source of information (n=365)	Neighbors/friends	42	11.5
	Health institution	156	42.7
	Mass media	58	15.9
	School	27	7.4
	More than one source	82	22.5
Ever used modern contraceptives (n=422)	Yes	336	79.6
	No	86	20.4
Types of modern contraceptives ever used/using now (n=336)	Pills	139	41.4
	Injectables	197	58.6
Know long acting modern contraceptives (n=422)	Yes	281	66.6
	No	141	33.4
Types of long acting modern contraceptives known (n=281)	Implants	139	49.5
	IUCD	56	19.9
	Both	86	30.6
Ever used long acting modern contraceptives (n=422)	Yes	142	33.6
	No	280	66.4
Types of long acting modern contraceptives used by respondents (n=142)	Implants	114	80.3
	IUCD	28	19.7
Duration of long acting modern contraceptives use (n=142)	Less than one year	56	39.4
	1-3 years	46	32.4
	More than 3 years	40	28.2
Shifted from long acting modern contraceptives to short acting's (n=142)	Yes	111	78.2
	No	31	21.8
Did your provider try to force you to	Yes	28	6.6

Comment [878]: Why justification?

Comment [879]: Identify any acronym. Identify it as a footnote. Use asterisk.

choose long acting modern contraceptives method (n=422)?	No	394	93.4
--	----	-----	------

Table 4: Knowledge of modern contraceptives among married women aged 15–49, in Akasta town, March to May, 2016

Comment [880]: Unify your bolding or not noodling titles and headings in tables all the text.

Variables	Responses	Number	Percent
Reasons for not using long acting modern contraceptives (n=280)	Not my first choice	97	34.6
	Have severe side effects	52	18.6
	Lack of adequate information about LARCs	131	46.8
Reasons to shift (n=111)	Method is inconvenient	28	25.2
	Due to fear of side effect	55	49.6
	Partner influenced me	28	25.2
Who chooses the method you are using (n=422)?	By my self	194	46.0
	The provider	28	6.6
	My husband	169	40.0
	My family	31	7.4
Reasons for using any modern family planning methods (n=336)?	For spacing	85	25.3
	For limiting no of children	114	33.9
	Prevent unwanted pregnancy	137	40.8

Comment [881]: Position of the question mark.

3.4 Factors associated with use of long acting reversible contraceptives

All independent variables were regressed to examine whether they have association with the use of long acting reversible contraceptives or not.

Multivariable logistic regression analyses showed that Age, husband's educational status, age at first sex, giving birth, number of children wish to have, history of unwanted pregnancy, history

Comment [882]: Why capitalized?

of abortion, occupation, knowledge of long acting modern contraceptives and attitude towards these methods were significantly associated with use of long acting reversible contraceptives.

Table.5 Bi-variable and Multivariable logistic regression analyses of selected factors affecting use of long acting modern contraceptives among married women, Akasta town, April 2016

Variable	Categories	Number	COR(95% CI)	AOR(95% CI)
Age	15-19	87(20.6%)	2.348(1.386, 3.979)	2.9(2.25, 3.37)***
	20-34	225(53.3%)	1.732(0.415, 1.912)	1.26(1.07, 2.43)*
	35-49	110(26.1%)	1.00(ref.)	1.00
Religion	Muslim	265(62.8%)	6.312(2.149, 18.542)	2.42(0.344, 7.29)
	Orthodox	140(33.2%)	3.495(1.167, 10.461)	0.186(0.14, 2.55)
	Others(protestant, catholic)	17(4.0%)	1.00(ref)	1.00
Women Educational status	Unable to read & write	141(33.4%)	1.00(ref)	1.00
	Primary school	113(26.8%)	1.6 (0.63, 2.43)	1.52(0.3, 2.13)
	Secondary and above	168(39.8%)	2.16 (1.05, 3.44)	2.11(2.02, 3.27)***
Husband Educational status	Unable to read & write	54(12.8%)	1.0(ref)	1.00
	Primary school	172(40.8%)	1.24 (0.6, 2.51)	1.26(.77, 2.64)
	Secondary and above	196(46.4%)	3.31 (1.070, 5.75)	2.9(1.52, 6.42)**
Age at first sex(n=422)	>=18	224(53.1%)	1.0(ref)	1.00
	<18	198(46.9%)	2.79 (1.531, 4.192)	2.8(1.59, 4.30)***
Give birth(n=422)	Yes	337(79.9%)	8.033(4.708, 13.706)	7.58(4.32, 12.78)**
	No	85(20.1%)	1.0(ref)	1.00
No. of children wish to have in the future	No need	57(13.5%)	4.021(1.86, 7.54)	3.89(1.98, 7.43)**
	1-2	109(25.8%)	2.4(0.89, 3.99)	2.23(0.79, 3.85)*
	3-4	170(40.3%)	1.54(0.57, 3.54)	1.42(0.53, 3.52)
	5 or more	86(20.4%)	1.00(ref)	1.00
History of unwanted px (n=338)	Yes	227(53.8%)	2.635(1.738, 3.993)	2.5(1.59, 3.88)***
	No	195(46.2%)	1.00(ref)	1.00

Comment [883]: Bolding?????????

Comment [884]: Category

Comment [885]: Indicate these acronyms in full in the footnote.

Comment [886]: Why the justification???????

Comment [887]: What is this abbreviation????

History of abortion (n=156)?	Yes	113(26.8%)	3.057(1.669,4.671)	2.87(1.544, 4.62)***
	No	309(73.2%)	1.00(ref)	1.00
Current occupation	House wife	196(46.5%)	1.00(ref)	1.00
	Merchant	85(20.1%)	2.122 (1.069, 4.218)	1.9(0.993, 3.88)*
	Government employee	83(19.7%)	2.147 (1.078, 4.278)	2.1(0.854, 4.23)**
	Student	58(13.7%)	4.332 (1.669, 6.652)	3.7(1.53, 6.45)***
Knowledge of long acting modern contraceptives	Yes	281(66.6%)	7.70(3.992, 10.202)	6.39(2.76, 9.98)***
	No	141(33.4%)	1.0(ref)	1.00
Attitude towards long acting modern contraceptives	Positive attitude	217.125(51.5 %)	4.299(1.201, 4.404)	4.936(1.67,7.84)***
	Negative attitude	137.5(32.6%)	1.0(ref)	1.00
	Neutral	67.375(15.9 %)	1.215 (0.776, 1.901)	1.3(0.69, 1.81)

Comment [888]: ? position

Comment [889]: Why the justification?????

NB: *Significant at $P < 0.05$, **significant at $P < 0.01$, ***significant at $P < 0.001$.

Discussion

The prevalence of use of long acting contraceptives in the study area was found to be 33.6% and implants were the most commonly used methods. One hundred thirty one (46.8%) of respondents did not use these methods because of inadequate information provided for them.

Age, husband's educational status, knowledge of long acting reversible contraceptives and attitude towards these methods were significantly associated with use of these contraceptives.

Two hundred eighty one (66.6%) of respondents said that they knew at least one type of LARC methods while the rest 141(33.4%) did not know any of these methods. This finding is by far higher than the result from mini EDHS report of 2014 which showed that only 2 percent of currently married women have heard of this method and lower than the study conducted in Debre Markos, North west Ethiopia which showed that 91.4% of respondents were aware of at least one

Comment [890]: You keep repeating the same sentences copy and paste everywhere in test. Refer to an English language center to rewrite the paper and make it looks like a scientific paper.

Comment [891]: Have you identified this acronym in full before?

type of LARCs. The difference in these findings may be due difference in study time frame. Because of the current spread of awareness creation programs through mass media.

Comment [892]: A terribly long sentence. Separate into three sentences. Bring the references next to any statistics, and where ever indicated.

In this study implants were the most known LARC method which is in line with the study conducted in Debre Markos, North west Ethiopia. This study was also similar with the study done by Alemayehu Shimeka and Abebach Asmamaw. But the magnitude of respondents who know implants was less in this study. This may be because of less exposure of respondents to mass media as the study area is rural comparatively.

Comment [893]: Comma

Refer to an English language center to re-write your paper.

Comment [894]: Reference???????????

The study showed that from the total 422 respondents only 142(33.6%) ever used any type of these methods in their life time and implants were the most commonly used methods. This study is higher than the study done in Ethiopia by Alemayehu Shimeka and Abebech Asmamaw which showed that prevalence of LARCs was 59(19.5%). This may be because of the time difference when the two studies were conducted. In other ways the finding of this study is less than the study conducted in Debre Markos, north west Ethiopia and Adigrat town, Northern Ethiopia, which is 48% & 48.4% respectively and the possible justification may be because of the socio-cultural difference of the respondents which influence their awareness of LARCs.

Comment [895]: Reference?????????

Comment [896]: Referenes???????

Age was found to be significantly associated with use of LARCs, high use at early age and decreases gradually. In this study women in the age group of 15-19 years were 2.9 times more likely to use long acting contraceptives when compared to those in the age group of 35-49 years [AOR at 95% CI= 2.9(2.25, 3.37)]. Those in the age group of 20-34 years were less likely to use LARCs when compared to those in the age group of 15-19 years. This finding is similar with the study done in Debre Markos which indicated that Women's at age 30 - 34 years were less likely to use long acting reversible contraceptive methods as compared to women with age group of 20-24 [AOR (95%CI) = 0.345(0.143, 0.833)]. Another study in china also revealed that use of IUCD decreased with increasing age. The possible explanation for decreasing LARCs use with increased age may be because women want to give birth in the age range of 20-35 years.

Educational status was other important predictors of LARCs use. Respondents who have completed secondary education and above were 2 times more likely to use LARCs [AOR at 95%

CI= 2.11(2.02, 3.27)]. Educational status of husbands was also significantly affects use of LARCs by their wives. Women whose husbands completed secondary education and above were 2.9 times more likely to use LARCs when compared to those whose husbands were unable to read and write [AOR at 95% CI=2.9(1.52, 6.42)]. This finding is similar with the study done among Reproductive Age Women in Ethiopia which showed that women who had secondary and above level of education were 3 times [AOR (95%CI) = 3 (1.5, 5.0)] more likely to use LARCs than non-educated women. The possible reason may be education increase women's level of understanding about benefits of LARCs and can get information from printed materials.

Sex initiation before the age of 18 years was significantly associated with LARCs use [AOR=2.8, (1.59, 4.3)]. Women who gave birth were more likely to use LARCs than those who didn't gave birth [AOR=7.5(4.32, 12.78)]. Women who did not wish to have any more children were more likely to use LARCs than who wish to have 5 or more children. This finding is similar with the study done in Adigrat, Northern Ethiopia which concluded that Women who did not desire additional children within the next two years were more likely to intend to use LARCs. Another study in Ethiopia also revealed that Women who have more than four children were 5.8 times [AOR (95%CI) =5.8 (2.7, 12.0)] more likely to use LARCs compared to women who have no children. Moreover, women who have no desire for next children were 2.5 times [AOR (95%CI) = 2.5 (2.0, 3.4)] more likely to use LARCs than women who want another children. This may be because women who gave birth of four or more children has reached their limit of family size and preferred to use most effective long acting reversible methods.

Having history of unwanted pregnancy and induced abortion were positively associated with LARC s use [AOR at 95% CI=2.5(1.59, 3.88), AOR=2.87(1.544, 4.62)] respectively. This may be explained that women could deeply understand consequence of unwanted pregnancy and induced abortion so that they may preferably use LARCs not to repeat their previous fault.

Concerning occupation students, government employees and merchants were more likely to use LARCs than house wives [AOR at 95% CI=3.7(1.53, 6.45), 2.1(0.854, 4.23) and 1.9(0.993, 3.88)] respectively. Students, employees and merchants were 3.7, 2.1 and 1.9 times more likely to use LARCs than house wives respectively. The finding of this study was in line with the study

done in Debre Markos which showed that Occupation of women was found to be significantly associated with long acting contraceptive use. It showed that students were 6.09 time more likely to use LARCM than House wife, 8.13 times more likely to use LARCM than Merchants, 3.09 times more likely to use LARCM than daily workers & 2.77 times more likely to use LARCM than employed workers. This could be justified that house wives had less exposure to many information sources and cannot easily understand the benefit of LARCs.

Those women having knowledge of long acting reversible contraceptives were by far more likely to use them [AOR at 95% CI=6.39(2.76, 9.98)]. Women who are knowledgeable were 6.4 times more likely to use LARCs. Similarly, study in Mekelle showed that mothers who had knowledge were more likely to use LARCs.

Having positive attitude towards LARCs was important predictor of LARCs use. Those women having Positive attitude towards LARCs was 4.9 times more likely to use LARCs than those having negative attitude [AOR at 95% CI=4.936(1.67, 7.84)]. This finding is similar with the study conducted in Ethiopia which showed that women who had a supportive attitude regarding LARC were 2 times more likely to accept LARC as compared with those who had non-supportive attitude (AOR=2.094, 95% CI (1.109, 3.954)).

Conclusion

The study showed that the prevalence of long acting reversible contraceptives in the study area was low. From the total of 422 respondents, 281 (66.6%) of them said that they knew at least one type of long acting reversible contraceptive methods but only 142(33.6%) ever used any type of these methods in their life time and implants were the most commonly used methods.

Reasons for not using long acting modern contraceptives were also assessed. From two hundred eighty (280) respondents who never used these methods 131(46.8%) of them said that they did not use these methods because of inadequate information provided for them regarding advantages and effectiveness of this methods and 34.6% of them responded that it was not their first choice.

Multivariable logistic regression analyses showed that Age, women and their husband's educational status, age at first sex, giving birth, number of children wish to have, history of

unwanted pregnancy, history of abortion, occupation, knowledge of LARCs and attitude towards these methods were significantly associated with use of long acting reversible contraceptives.

Recommendations

This study found that there was low prevalence of use of long acting contraceptives in the study area. Depending on the findings obtained from this study the author recommends that Health workers in the study area should provide appropriate counseling about long acting reversible contraceptives for clients. As the knowledge of respondents regarding long acting contraceptives is still not enough (66%), Mass media should play its role in advertising the advantages of long acting contraceptives. In addition, the Woreda health office should organize Community awareness programs to increase the knowledge of long acting contraceptives.

DECLARATIONS

Acknowledgments

The author would like to express appreciation for women of Akasta town, who participated in the study, for their time to participate in the study.

We also thank the staffs of South Wollo and Akasta town administrations for their help in providing official data. Finally our sincere appreciation goes to our family and friends for their moral & material support and encouragement throughout our study period.

Funding

Authors did not receive any external funding for this work. All cost related to this research was covered by the researchers themselves.

Authors' contributions

The data collection was undertaken by all the authors. All the authors contributed in the data analysis, design and preparation of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript and have all agreed to its submission for publication.

Competing interests

The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest in this research article. Please contact author for data requests.

Consent for publication: fully agreed

Ethics approval and consent to participate

All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institution. Approval was sought from the administrators of the Woreda before data were collected and also ethical approval was obtained from the Ethical Review Board of Wollo University. Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study. Participation was solely voluntary and no form of inducement was used to get people to participate in the study.

References

1. Population Reference Bureau, World Population Highlights: Key findings from PRB'S 2009, World Population Data Sheet, Sep. 2009. 64(3).Available: http://www.prb.org/pdf/09/64.3_highlights.pdf (accessed august 2015).
2. US Agency for International Development (USAID). Using Quantification to Support Introduction and Expansion of Long-Acting and Permanent Methods of Contraception. USA: USAID|Deliver Project, Engender Health/The RESPOND Project October 2010, 2005–2010.

Comment [897]: Unify your reference writing style.

3. World Bank: MDG: Reduce by three-quarters, between 1990 and 2015, the maternal mortality ratio. Development Report. 2003; 208-212.
4. Central Statistical Agency [Ethiopia]; Ethiopia Demographic and Health Survey (EDHS 2011). Central Statistical Agency Addis Ababa, Ethiopia & ICF International Calverton, Maryland, USA March 2012.
5. Winner B, Peipert JF, Zhao Q, et al. Effectiveness of long-acting reversible contraception. *N Engl J Med* 2012; 366: 1998-2007
6. Takele, A., Degu, G., Yitayal, M (2012). Demand for long acting and permanent methods of contraceptives and factors for non-use among married women of Gobat own, Bale Zone, and Southeast Ethiopia. *J. Reproductive Health*, 2006, 9-26
7. EDHS (2011). Preliminary report, CSA and measure DHS ORC Macro, 2011
8. Central Statistical Agency [Ethiopia]; Ethiopia Demographic and Health Survey (EMDHS August 2014).
9. Babalola. S, John. N, factors underlying the use of long acting and permanent family planning methods in Nigeria: The Respond Project, August 2012, *Journal of Public Health*. Vol. 2, No. 5, 2014, pp. 424-430.
10. Family Health International (2007). Ambaw Damtew Regional Program Manager Pathfinder International/ Ethiopia Mengistu A., Snake M.D., M.P.H. Deputy Country Representative .Pathfinder International/Ethiopia Developed and written by Jennifer Wilder Senior Technical Communications Advisor Pathfinder International. *Health Sector Development Program IV*, 2010-2014. Addis Ababa; p. 27.
11. Addis Adera Gebrul, Atsede Fantahun Areas (2014): Assessment of Factors Affecting Long acting of Family Planning Utilization in Adigrat Town, Tigray, North-East Ethiopia. *Journal of Family Planning and Reproductive Health Care* 2008; 34(4): 213-218
12. Alemayehu Shimeka Teferra and Abebach Asmamaw Wondifraw: Determinants of Long Acting Contraceptive Use among Reproductive Age Women in Ethiopia. Addis Ababa; 2010. p. 27 (7).
13. Alem Gebremariam and Adamu Addissie (2012) :Intention to use long acting and permanent contraceptive methods and factors affecting it among married women in Adigrat town, Tigray, Northern Ethiopia. *Journal Med. Sci*, 2012 6(4): 181-186.

14. Family Planning-A Handbook for Providers, Implants Chapter. Contraception 2008; 77: 67-76.
15. Mengistu Asnake, Elizabeth G. Henry: Addressing unmet need for long-acting family planning in Ethiopia: Uptake of single-rod progestogen contraceptive implants (Implanon) and characteristics of users. Journal of contraception, April 27, 2011.
16. Family Health International; a forum for putting knowledge into practice, February 2008 Volume 2, Issue 1.
17. Shimels Wudie : Assessment of factors affecting the use of long-Acting reversible contraceptive methods among married women of reproductive age group in Debre Markos district, North West, Ethiopia. Ethiop J Health Dev 2008, 22(3):28–33.
18. Hailay Gebremichael *et al.*: Acceptance of Long Acting Contraceptive Methods and Associated Factors among Women in Mekelle City, Northern Ethiopia. Journal of Public Health. Vol. 2, No. 4, 2014, pp. 349-355. doi:10.11648/j.sjph.20140204.27.